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In April 1997, then-president Bill Clinton sent a memo-
randum to the heads of executive departments and 
agencies titled “Expanding Access to Internet-based 

Educational Resources for Children, Teachers and Parents.”¹ 
The memorandum directed them to develop web sites 
specifically for use by parents, teachers, and children. They 
responded with creative, fun, and informative web sites that 
cover virtually every area of curriculum. 

Teachers and 
Homeschoolers

Government web sites offer authoritative, up-to-date 
resources that are often not copyrighted. This makes them 
a gold mine for teachers looking to expand their resources 
on limited budgets. The problem is that many teachers and 
homeschoolers are unaware of the valuable information 
awaiting them in the untapped universe of government web 
sites. For those that are aware, it is a question of having the 
time to find the right material. Time is in short supply for 
teachers, just like money. That is why finding a good web 
portal can be so important. 

There are five major web portals available to aid in 
accessing government information for teachers and home-
schoolers: Gateway to Educational Materials (GEM), Federal 
Resources for Educational Excellence (FREE), Browse Top-
ics, the Educator’s Reference Desk, and FirstGov for Kids. 
These portals offer keyword and subject access to many of 
the lesson plans, primary source materials, free classroom 
resources, and fun learning sites for children that are avail-
able through government agencies.

GEM (www.thegateway.org) is designed to allow teach-
ers to search by topic, grade level, and type of material. 
GEM searches more than 40,000 records from more than 
600 consortium member collections. Consortium partners 
include federal agencies, nonprofit organizations, and pri-
vate publishers. To experience the value of this web site, 
search with the keyword “holocaust.” Limit the results to 

lesson plans and primary sources. This search will result in 
information on the “Voyage of the St. Louis” section of the 
United States Holocaust Memorial Museum web site. This 
wonderful resource offers eighth- through twelfth-grade 
students a historical case study of Jewish refugees fleeing 
Nazi Germany. One downside of GEM is that not all of the 
material accessed is available for free, as commercial sites are 
included in the search results. 

FREE (www.ed.gov/free) is a collection of links to 
federally supported teaching and learning resources. It is 
organized by curriculum area, such as mathematics. The 
search tool is not as precise as GEM, but the results direct 
teachers to material available at no cost. In addition, FREE 
offers a feature resource section. The feature resource is 
often geared toward holidays or commemoration of events. 
Examples of topics are resources for Presidents’ Day, Black 
History Month, and the U.S. Constitution. The latter is 
most helpful to schools trying to fulfill the new federal 
requirement to offer an educational program about the U.S. 
Constitution in September. 

Browse Topics (www.library.okstate.edu/govdocs/
browsetopics), a partnership between the Government 
Printing Office and Oklahoma State University, is a listing of 
government web sites by general topics. The categories are 
broader than those on FREE. The links within each category 
are provided and updated by depository librarians around 
the country. The two areas that are probably most helpful to 
educators are “Teaching” and “Education.” You will find links 
to the U.S. Mint lesson plans designed around the fifty state 
quarters, the National Archives “Our Documents” lesson 
plans for the one hundred milestone documents from Ameri-
can history, and many more sites designed especially for 
teachers to use in their classrooms under the “Teaching” cat-
egory. The “Education” category focuses more on education 
research, statistics, and information resources, although you 
will find a few links to classroom instructional material. 

The Educator’s Reference Desk (www.eduref.org) is 
maintained by the Information Institute of Syracuse. In addi-
tion to more than two thousand lesson plans and three thou-
sand links to education information on the web, this site has a 
question archive with responses to questions sent to AskEric 
from 1992–2003. Access is provided separately for resource 
guides, lesson plans, and the question archives. The resource 
guides are arranged by broad categories and subcategories. 
Under the category of “Family Life,” there is a resource guide 
specifically on “Home Schooling” that has some wonderful 
links to information for homeschooling parents. Teachers may 
find the guides on “Classroom Management” or “Beginning 
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Teachers” to be the most useful. The lesson plans are by cur-
riculum area and can be searched with keywords and specific 
grade levels. Do you need a lesson plan on religious tolerance 
for ninth to twelfth graders? You will find it here under “Social 
Studies” and then “Civics.” 

FirstGov for Kids (www.kids.gov) is designed more for 
children than teachers. Like GEM, it includes commercial 
sites that have some free information and some available for 
a fee. However, the results are clearly separated into those 
that are government sites, organization sites, and commer-
cial sites. It is maintained by the Federal Citizen Information 
Center. Teachers and parents can use this site to find inter-
active games and activities for children in a given subject 
area. Looking for an endangered species coloring book or an 
online geography quiz? This site is the place to go. 

Some individual agency web pages for teachers that 
stand out are the Learning Page from the Library of Con-
gress (http://lcweb2.loc.gov/ammem/ndlpedu), America’s 
Story from the Library of Congress (www.americaslibrary.
gov/cgi-bin/page.cgi), Ben’s Guide from the Government 
Printing Office (http://bensguide.gpo.gov), Our Documents 
from the National Archives and Records Administration 
(www.ourdocuments.gov), Educators and Students page of 
the National Archives and Records Administration (www.
archives.gov/education), and the USGS and Science Educa-
tion from the United States Geological Survey (http://educa-
tion.usgs.gov). Ben’s Guide in particular includes a section 
with links to additional agency pages for students (http://
bensguide.gpo.gov/subject.html) and parents and educators 
(http://bensguide.gpo.gov/pt/subject.html).

So far, I have mentioned online resources available to 
teachers and homeschoolers; however, the federal govern-
ment is also a supplier of free classroom materials. Teacher 
Resources (www.federalreserveeducation.org/teachers) is a 
search tool for supplementary classroom materials provided 
by the Federal Reserve. In most cases the material is avail-
able free of charge. Ed Pubs (www.edpubs.org) is another 
web site where you can order free educational publications. 
Publications are available in English and Spanish for teachers, 
parents, students, and administrators. The Environmental 
Protection Agency also provides educational materials free of 
charge. You can order coloring books, posters, and teacher 
kits from their Teaching Center (http://epa.gov/teachers). 

Parents
Parents will find parenting and child care resources, educa-
tion resources, and science fair resources on government 
web pages. Just as for teachers, there are web portals that are 
specifically designed to help parents access online govern-
ment information. The four basic portals are: FirstGov for 
Parents, Childcare.Gov, Afterschool.Gov, and Students.Gov. 

FirstGov for Parents (http://firstgov.gov/Topics/Parents.
shtml) provides links to parenting resources by age of child, 
from newborn to young adult, as well as resources on preg-

nancy. There also are links to major categories of interest, 
such as adoption, child care, child support, education financ-
ing, and safety. Some of the links you will find on this site 
include child growth charts, helping your child become a 
reader, newborn care, career guidance, Internet safety, bully-
ing and your child, and childproofing your home. 

Childcare.Gov (www.childcare.gov) is designed to pro-
vide information to child care providers, but it does include 
a section of parenting resources. The parenting resources 
section has several links to information on how to choose the 
right day care center for your child, including a link to an on-
site interview checklist. Afterschool.Gov (www.afterschool.
gov) is another site that is not designed specifically for parents, 
but has a lot of good information for them. The site provides 
links for community service opportunities, online activities for 
kids after school, and homework help. Both of these sites are 
currently being updated and are temporarily unavailable. I am 
looking forward to seeing all the fabulous new information 
that they are adding to make these sites even better. 

Students.Gov (www.students.gov) is a student-centered 
interagency portal to government information that will help 
students during the transition to life beyond high school. 
Information on planning and financing a college education, 
military service, student internships, and travel can be found 
using the links from this site. 

The portals for parenting information are not as extensive 
in coverage as the teacher portals. It therefore becomes all 
the more important to know about specific agency web sites 
aimed at informing parents. The Parent’s Corner from the 
Food and Drug Administration (www.fda.gov/oc/opacom/
kids/html/parents__corner.htm) is one to put at the top of 
your list. It contains dozens of links to health and safety sites 
for parents. You can find everything from how to administer 
medicine to a child to information on petting zoos.

The parents section of the Department of Educa-
tion (www.ed.gov/parents/landing.jhtml?src=pn) is another 
agency site to direct parents to. The Helping Your Child series, 
which is available in English and Spanish, is one of my favor-
ites on this page. It provides practical lessons and activities 
for parents to help their children develop skills they need to 
succeed in school. Healthy Start Grow Smart is another good 
series. This one is for parents of newborns to one-year-olds. 
Of course, information on how to pay for your child’s col-
lege education is another very popular section of the Educa-
tion Department’s web page. In fact, there is a web portal 
for college information run by the Department of Education 
called Student Aid on the Web (http://studentaid.ed.gov).

One of the most frequent questions from parents 
involves finding resources for science fair projects. There 
are some wonderful government web sites with science fair 
activities and links to additional resources. One of these is 
the Agriculture Department’s Agriculture in the Classroom 
Kids Zone (www.agclassroom.org/kids/index2.htm). This 
web site has information on how to conduct a science fair 
project, how to document it, and ideas for possible projects. 
There also are links to other web sites for additional ideas. 
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Another good site for science fair ideas is the U.S. Army 
Corps of Engineers Education Center (http://education.wes.
army.mil). You can access the projects by general subjects or 
by the keyword search box. 

Internet safety is a big concern of parents today. There 
are two online publications that are must-reads for parents 
whose children spend unmonitored time on the Internet. 
One, titled A Parent’s Guide to Internet Safety, is on the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation web site (www.fbi.gov/publica-
tions/pguide/pguidee.htm). The other is from the Justice 
Department’s May 2001 OVC Bulletin and is titled “Internet 
Crimes against Children” (www.ojp.usdoj.gov/ovc/publica-
tions/bulletins/internet_2_2001/welcome.html).

Conclusion
If you are not finding what you need using the web sites 
above, you might try your local depository library web site. 
Depository libraries will sometimes include links to web 
sites for children and teachers and can be a place to find state 
and local government information for teachers, students, and 
parents. In addition, some tangible teacher kits that are not 

available online are available in the depository library collec-
tions. For a sample listing of kits you can view the Teacher 
Kits and Resources list for the Tulsa City-County Library at 
(www.tulsalibrary.org/govdocs/teacherkits.htm). To locate 
the depository library in your area, go to the Federal Deposi-
tory Library Directory (www.gpoaccess.gov/libraries.html). 

Each of the sites provides a wide variety of resources for 
teachers, parents, and students. They are, of course, just the 
tip of the iceberg. There are many more out there that are 
sure to appeal to teachers and parents. Other valuable web 
sites worth visiting can be found at http://kids.tulsalibrary.
org/homework/govdocs/index.htm. ❚

Author’s note: The web sites in this article were all accessed in Febru-
ary 2006. 

Suzanne Sears, Government Documents Librarian, Tulsa City-
County Library, ssears@tulsalibrary.org

Reference
 1. Clinton, William J. Public Papers of the Presidents of the 

United States: William J. Clinton, 1997. Vol. 1 (Washington, 
D.C.: GPO, 1997), 460–61.

DttP Available Online!

Attention GODORT members! 
Volumes 31–present of DttP are now available online.

Go to www.ala.org 
Log on to the “My ALA” web site 

Search for “godort dttp”
Click on the link:
ALA | GODORT

GODORT. Click here to go to GODORT’s web site. 

GODORT members can view selected issues of DttP in PDF format 
by clicking the links below. 

Look for an announcement in DttP for the retrospective collection—coming soon!
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